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Introduced by the Council President at the request of the Jacksonville Historic Preservation Commission and Co-Sponsored by Council Members Boyer and Hazouri and substituted by the Neighborhoods, Community Investments & Services Committee:

ORDINANCE 2016-559-W
AN ORDINANCE REGARDING CHAPTER 307 (HISTORIC PRESERVATION), ORDINANCE CODE; DESIGNATING THE CONFEDERATE MONUMENT AND COQUINA ROAD MARKER (THE “STRUCTURES”) LOCATED IN hemming park,  WHICH IS enclosed by West duval street, west monroe street, north hogan street and laura street, DOWNTOWN jacksonville, FLORIDA, IN COUNCIL DISTRICT 7, AS LOCAL LANDMARKS PURSUANT TO APPLICATION NO.: LS-16-01; FINDING THAT THE STRUCTURES MEET THE REQUISITE 2 OF 7 CRITERIA FOR LOCAL LANDMARK DESIGNATION WITH NO OBJECTIONS FROM THE PROPERTY OWNER, PURSUANT TO SEC. 307.104(J), ORDINANCE CODE; DIRECTING THE ZONING ADMINISTRATOR TO ENTER THE LOCAL LANDMARK DESIGNATIONS ON THE ZONING ATLAS; DIRECTING THE CHIEF OF LEGISLATIVE SERVICES TO NOTIFY THE APPLICANT, THE PROPERTY OWNER AND THE PROPERTY APPRAISER OF THE LOCAL LANDMARK DESIGNATIONS AND TO CAUSE SAID DESIGNATIONS TO BE RECORDED IN THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.


WHEREAS, the Jacksonville City Council (the “Council”) promulgated Chapter 307 (Historic Preservation), Ordinance Code, to facilitate the designation of landmarks and landmark sites, where appropriate; and

WHEREAS, the structures to be designated by this ordinance pursuant to local landmark site designation Application LS-16-01 are the Confederate Monument (“Monument”) and the Coquina Road Marker (“Coquina Road Marker”) (collectively the “Structures”) located in Hemming Park, which is enclosed by West Duval Street to the north, West Monroe Street to the south, North Hogan Street to the west, and North Laura Street to the East, in downtown Jacksonville, Florida in Council District 7 (“the Park”); and 
WHEREAS, the application for local landmark site designation was filed by the Jacksonville Historic Preservation Commission (“Commission”) upon the request of concerned residents and interested persons.  The Designation Application and Report of the Planning and Development Department, a copy of which is attached as Revised Exhibit 1, is incorporated by reference herein (“the Application and Report”); and
WHEREAS, in approximately 1859, Isaiah D. Hart, the recognized founder of Jacksonville, produced the Hart’s Map of the City of Jacksonville, which established the current street grid of downtown. Said map set aside a block of land for use as a public square which came to be the Park; and

WHEREAS, during the Civil War, the Park was used in 1862 to host a reception for Brigadier General Thomas W. Sherman, commander of the Federal Department of the South forces; in 1864 as the Union Army headquarters; and in 1865 as a gathering place to hear a speech by Provisional Governor of Florida, William T. Marvin, who was appointed by President Andrew Jackson; and

WHEREAS, in January of 1866, the City acquired the Park, when all of the surrounding block (Block 39) was sold for ten dollars to the municipal government by executors of the Hart estate; and

WHEREAS, following the construction of the St. James Hotel in 1869, improvements were made to the Park, such as fencing and a bandstand in the center. However, by 1873 the improvements to the Park had not been maintained and by 1886, the condition of the Park deteriorated to the extent that some City leaders considered selling the Park to the Federal Government for the construction of a new post office; and

WHEREAS, during the period of 1886 to 1888, and most likely due to the anticipated arrival of President and Mrs. Grover Cleveland to the City and planned stay in the St. James Hotel, the City made improvements to the Park, such as walkways and the sinking of a well for a fountain; and
WHEREAS, on June 16, 1898, the Monument, made by George H. Mitchell of Chicago, was erected in the Park. In a grand ceremony as part of the reunion of the United Confederate Veterans, the Monument was dedicated to all Florida soldiers and sailors that served during the war. The nephew of General Robert E. Lee and the grandson of General Ulysses S. Grant were in attendance at this ceremony; and
WHEREAS, the Monument of the “silent sentinel” Confederate soldier is 62 feet high, made of marble and bronze and reflects a period during the late 19th and early 20th centuries when memorials were being erected in towns and cities in both the North and South to honor Civil War veterans. The Monument was a gift of former Jacksonville resident and Confederate veteran, Charles C. Hemming. By ordinance action on October 26, 1899, the City Council officially renamed the Park to “Hemming Park” to honor his donation of the $20,000 Monument; and

WHEREAS, on May 3, 1901, the Monument was the only structure in the Park and in the path of the 1901 fire to survive completely intact; and 

WHEREAS, in 1928, the Jacksonville Chapter of the National Society, Daughters of the American Revolution added the bronze informational plaque to the large coquina rock on the northeast corner of the Park, which was the original road marker for the intersection of the historic Alligator Road and Old Kings Road (the Coquina Road Marker); and


WHEREAS, following the recovery from the 1901 fire and well into the twentieth century, the Park served as the primary political stump for speeches, rallies, and free entertainment provided by candidates running on the local, state, and national level; and

 
WHEREAS, over time the Park became recognized as the epicenter of the Jacksonville Civil Rights movement of the early 1960s. The Park was the significant public space that tied together the surrounding locations associated with the Civil Rights demonstrations, such as the demonstrations and sit-ins at Woolworth’s, Morrison’s Cafeteria, Cohen’s Department Store, and W.T. Grants and the S.H. Kress stores, which led to the racially charged violent attack on demonstrators known as “Axe Handle Saturday”; and


WHEREAS, starting in January 1978, the Park underwent significant modifications to create the urban plaza it is today. On July 26, 1986, the Park, which was renamed “Hemming Plaza,” was officially re-opened to the public; and 


WHEREAS, the property owners within 350 feet of the boundaries of the Subject Property have been notified of the intent to designate the Subject Property as a local landmark site; and


WHEREAS, pursuant to the requirements of Chapter 307 (Historic Preservation), Ordinance Code, the Council has considered the issue of designating the Park as a local landmark site, taking into consideration its importance and historical value, as more fully set forth in the Application and Report; and

WHEREAS, in a letter dated July 12, 2016, a copy of which is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit 3, Daryl Joseph, Director of the Parks, Recreation and Community Services Department, (the “Parks Director”) and on behalf of the owner of the Park, the City of Jacksonville, notified the Commission it opposed the local landmark site designation of the entire Park, but would not oppose the local landmark designation of the Confederate Monument; and
WHEREAS, the application for designation of the Park met four of the seven standards required for local landmark site designation; and


WHEREAS, on July 27, 2016, the Jacksonville Historic Preservation Commission reviewed and recommended approval of the designation of the Park, which included the Structures, as a local landmark site with specific conditions (the minutes of the Jacksonville Historic Preservation Commission are attached hereto as Exhibit 2); and

WHEREAS, in July of 2016, the City of Jacksonville convened the Special Committee on Hemming Park (“Special Committee”) to discuss items related to Hemming Park, including its designation as a landmark; and


WHEREAS, the Special Committee voted to designate only the Structures and not the entire Park; and

WHEREAS, the Council has determined that physical changes to the Park over time have affected its significance as an historic site in total, however, the Structures have maintained their historic integrity and are appropriate for designation as local landmarks; and

WHEREAS, the City of Jacksonville does not oppose the local landmark designations of the Structures, as set forth in the Letter of No Objection from the Parks Director, dated January 13, 2017 and attached hereto as Exhibit 4; and

WHEREAS, public hearings have been held the Council and its committees regarding the issue of designating the Park, or the Structures as elements of the Park, as local landmarks; and
WHEREAS, by enacting this ordinance, the Council is exercising its power and authority to contribute to the health, safety and welfare of the City of Jacksonville and finds that the Structures should be so designated as local landmarks; now, therefore


BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of Jacksonville:


Section 1.

Designation of Landmarks.  Pursuant to Chapter 307 (Historic Preservation), Ordinance Code, the Council hereby designates the Structures located in Hemming Park, which is enclosed by West Duval Street to the north, West Monroe Street to the south, North Hogan Street to the west, and North Laura Street to the East, in downtown Jacksonville, Florida in Council District 7, as described in the Application and Report (Revised Exhibit 1), as local landmarks.


Section 2.

Satisfaction of Requisite Criteria.  The Council hereby finds that the Structures satisfy the requisite two (2) of the seven (7) criteria for designation as local landmarks as set forth in Section 307.104(j)(1) & (7), Ordinance Code.  Pursuant to Section 307.104(j), Ordinance Code, with the Letter of No Objection (Exhibit 4) obtained from the City of Jacksonville as Property Owner, only 2 of the 7 criteria are required to be met.
 


Section 3.

Local Landmark Designation on Zoning Atlas.  The Council hereby directs the Zoning Administrator to designate the Structures as local landmarks on the City’s Zoning Atlas.


Section 4.

Notice of Local Landmark Designation.  The Council hereby directs the Chief of Legislative Services to notify the applicant, the property owner and the Property Appraiser of the designation of the Structures as local landmarks.


Section 5.

Recording of Local Landmark Designation.  The Council hereby directs the Chief of Legislative Services to record this ordinance in the public records for Duval County, Florida.


Section 6.

Effective Date.  The enactment of this ordinance constitutes a quasi-judicial action of the City Council and therefore shall become effective upon signature by the Council President and Council Secretary.
Form Approved:

     /s/ Susan C. Grandin_____
Office of General Counsel

Legislation Prepared By: Sondra R. Fetner
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